IN	THE	SUPREME	COURT	\mathbf{OF}	FLORIDA
----	-----	---------	-------	---------------	---------

Od 6/1

SID J. WHITE FEB 28 1995*

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

F

By_

CASE NO. 85, 023

THIRD DISTRICT CASE NO. 94-789

METROPOLITAN DADE COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Florida,

Petitioner,

v.

HUMBERTO PEÑA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED

ROBERT A. GINSBURG DADE COUNTY ATTORNEY 111 N.W. FIRST STREET SUITE 2810 MIAMI, FLORIDA 33128-1993 Tel.: (305) 375-5151

INTRODUCTION

County, shall be Petitioner, Metropolitan Dade referred to herein as "Petitioner" or "the County". Respondent, Humberto Peña, shall be referred to as "Peña" or "the Employee". References to the record on appeal shall be denoted "R. ". For the convenience of this Court, the opinion of the third district court of appeal is attached hereto as Appendix A. The opinion of the circuit court below is attached as Appendix B. The decision of the Dade County Manager is attached as Appendix C. The recommendation of the hearing examiner upon which the County Manager's decision is based, part of the record on appeal, is attached as Appendix D.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent, Humberto Peña is employed by Metropolitan Dade County in the Metro-Dade Transit Agency ("MDTA") as a bus operator. On April 5, 1989, Peña was involved in an accident in which his bus struck a pedestrian and a parked car. Appendix D-2. In a post-accident toxicology examination, Peña tested positive for nordiazepam, a tranquilizer. Appendix D-3.

By disciplinary action report ("DAR") dated May 4, 1989, Peña was charged with violations of the Dade County Personnel Rules for the Classified Service, Chapter 8, § 7, ¶¶ D, H, I and L, as well as, Article VI.1 of the labor agreement between Metropolitan Dade County and the union representing bus operators. Appendix D-1, -2. Peña responded in writing, acknowledging that he had taken the tranquilizer four days before the accident. Appendix D-3.

Because dismissal was recommended, Peña requested and received a meeting with Acting Department Director, Dennis Carter, the official authorized to take final disciplinary action. Consistent with established MDTA policy, during that meeting, as an alternative to dismissal, the acting director invited Peña to enter into a "return to work" agreement, in which, in exchange for continued employment, he would accept a suspension and demotion and agree to participate in the county's employee assistance program. Appendix D-4. Peña rejected that agreement, and on June 2, 1989, he was dismissed from the county service. Appendix D-1.

Pursuant to §2-47, Code of Metropolitan Dade County, Peña appealed his dismissal to the Dade County Manager. <u>Id</u>. On October 4 and October 6, 1989, a hearing was conducted before an independent hearing examiner empowered to make findings of fact, and to transmit those findings, along with conclusions and recommendations to the county manager. <u>Id</u>.

At the conclusion of the hearing, the hearing examiner suggested rescission of Peña's discharge, recommending instead that the discipline be reduced to a thirty day suspension. Appendix D- 5-7. By order dated January 12,

1990, the county manager concurred, suspending Peña for thirty days, reinstating him as a bus operator, and ordering back pay for the period between his dismissal and subsequent reinstatement, less thirty days pay for the period of suspension. Appendix C. Peña did not appeal the county manager's final determination.

Ultimately, Peña and MDTA were unable to agree on the amount of back pay to which he was entitled; as a result, on November 19, 1991, Peña filed an action in the circuit court for the eleventh judicial circuit, in and for Dade County, Florida, seeking <u>inter alia</u>, attorney's fees and costs incurred in his administrative appeal of disciplinary action to the county manager, a determination of the amount of back pay owed, and attorney's fees and costs for the action for back wages.

The circuit court ordered mediation, which resulted in an agreement between the parties as to the amount of back pay Peña was owed. The Respondent then filed a motion seeking a determination of his entitlement to attorney's fees and costs. On October 22, 1993, the trial court entered an order finding that as to the circuit court action for back wages, Peña was entitled to an award of attorney's fees and costs pursuant to §448.08, Fla. Stat.; however, Peña was not entitled to an award of attorney's fees and costs incurred in the administrative appeal to the county manager. Appendix B- 1-2. The trial court's final

order was entered on March 7, 1994. <u>Id</u>. Peña appealed the trial court's order to the third district court of appeal. The third district reversed the order of the trial court, holding that Peña was entitled to an award of attorney's fees on the controlling authority of <u>Metropolitan Dade</u> <u>County v. Stein</u>, 384 So.2d 167 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980). The third district certified that its decision was in direct conflict with the decision of the fifth district court of appeal in <u>Werthman v. School Board of Seminole County</u>, <u>599</u> So.2d 220 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992) and the decision of the first district in <u>Davis v. School Board of Gadsden County</u>, <u>___</u>So.2d <u>___</u>, 19 FLW D2365 (Fla. 1st DCA Case No. 93-107, opinion filed, November 7, 1994). This petition for writ of common law certiorari follows.

QUESTIONS ON APPEAL

1. Is an administrative appeal of disciplinary action pursuant to a county ordinance an "action for unpaid wages" within the meaning of §448.08, Fla. Stat.?

2. Is an employee who obtains a reduction of the level of disciplinary action in an administrative proceeding entitled to an award of attorney fees and costs where the enactment creating the administrative appeal specifically provides that an employee may be represented by counsel "at his own expense"?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The third district court of appeal erred in holding that the Respondent, Humberto Peña, is entitled to an award of attorney's fees and costs incurred in appealing his dismissal by the director of the Metro-Dade Transit Agency to the Dade County Manager. Section 2=47, Code of Metropolitan Dade County, the ordinance creating the administrative appeal, specifically provides that an employee pursuing the remedy may be represented by counsel "at his own expense". The district court and Respondent's reliance on §448.08, Fla. Stat., a statute providing for the award of attorney's fees and costs to the prevailing party in an "action for unpaid wages" is misplaced. An administrative appeal to the Dade County Manager is not "an action for unpaid wages" within the meaning of §448.08. Werthman v. School Board of Seminole County, 599 So.2d 220 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992).

In construing §2-47, Code of Metropolitan Dade County and §448.08, Fla. Stat., this Court has a duty to provide a construction which reconciles the two enactments, giving fullest possible effect to each, and which does not render either meaningless. The traditional and historical definition of "action" means a proceeding in a court. <u>State Road Department v. Crill</u>, 128 So. 412, 415 (Fla. 1930). Giving the term "action" as utilized in §448.08 the traditional meaning applied by this Court in <u>Crill</u>, <u>supra</u>,

preserves the legislative intent of the board of county commissioners as expressed in §2-47, Code of Metropolitan Dade County, and avoids a conflict with §448.08, Fla. Stat. Nothing in the language of §448.08 evidences a clear intent by the state legislature to supersede enactments which deny attorney's fee awards in administrative proceedings. The district court erred in interpreting §2-47, Code of Metropolitan Dade County, so as to create a conflict. The decision below must be reversed and the decision of the circuit court must be reinstated.

ARGUMENT

I.

AN EMPLOYEE WHO OBTAINS A REDUCTION IN THE LEVEL OF DISCIPLINE IN AN ADMINISTRATIVE APPEAL то THE COUNTY MANAGER IS NOT ENTITLED TO AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS WHERE \$2-47, METROPOLITAN DADE COUNTY, CODE OF THAT PROVIDES AN EMPLOYEE MAY BE REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL "AT HIS OWN EXPENSE".

In its discretion the Supreme Court of Florida may review any decision of a district court of appeal which the district court certifies is in direct conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal on the same question of law. Rule 9.030 (a)(2)(iv) and (vi), Fla. R. App. P. (1994). In the instant case the third district court of appeal reversed the decision of the circuit court below and held that on the controlling authority of Metropolitan Dade County v. Stein, 384 So.2d 167 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980), the Respondent, Humberto Peña, was entitled to an award of attorney fees and costs incurred in appealing to the Dade County Manager his dismissal from the county service by the director of the Metro-Dade Transit Agency. The district court panel certified that its decision was in direct conflict with the decision of the fifth district court of appeal in Werthman v. School Board of Seminole County, 599 So. 2d 220 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992) and the decision of the first district in Davis v. School Board of Gadsen

<u>County</u>, ____ So.2d ___, 19 FLW D2365 (Fla. 1st DCA Case No. 93-107, opinion filed, November 7, 1994).

 A. An Administrative Proceeding Under \$2-47, Code of Metropolitan Dade County, Is Not an "Action for Unpaid Wages" Within the Meaning of \$448.08, Fla. Stat.

In the underlying action, Respondent, Humberto Peña, invoking §448.08, Fla. Stat., requested an award of attorney's fees and costs representing expenses incurred in his administrative appeal to the Dade County Manager pursuant to §2-47, Code of Metropolitan Dade County. Section 448.08, however, does not entitle Peña to such an award.

Section 2-47, Code of Metropolitan Dade County, the ordinance creating the administrative remedy Peña pursued, provides, in pertinent part:

"Any person appearing before a hearing examiner under the provisions of this section has the right, <u>at his</u> <u>own expense</u>, to be accompanied, represented and advised by counsel or other qualified representative." (Emphasis supplied.)

The language of the ordinance notwithstanding, Peña claims he is entitled to an attorney's fee as the prevailing party in an action for unpaid wages pursuant to §448.08, Fla. Stat. It is clear, however, that a

non-judicial administrative proceeding is not an "action" within the meaning of §448.08. <u>State Road Department v.</u> <u>Crill</u>, 128 So. 412 (Fla. 1930). This is particularly true where the real purpose of the administrative proceeding is to determine the sufficiency of the evidence underlying the administrative decision to discharge the Appellant.

Section 448.08 provides:

"The court may award to the prevailing party in an <u>action</u> for unpaid wages costs of the <u>action</u> and a reasonable attorney's fee." (Emphasis supplied.)

This Court has interpreted the term "action" and has provided the following definition:

"In any legal sense, 'case', 'cause', 'action,' and 'suit' are convertible terms, each meaning a proceeding in a court."

128 So. at 415, citing <u>Blyew v. U.S.</u>, 13 Wall. (80 U.S.), 581, 595, 20 L.Ed. 638.

Black's Law Dictionary provides a similar definition:

"[The] term in its usual legal sense means a suit brought in a court; a formal complaint within the jurisdiction of a court of law. ... (citations omitted). An ordinary proceeding in a court of justice by which one party prosecutes another for the enforcement or protection of a right, the redress or prevention of a wrong, or the punishment of a public offense...."

In the courts below Peña argued that §448.08 provides him an absolute right to an award of attorney's fee and costs. A virtually identical situation, however, was considered by the fifth district court of appeal in <u>Werthman v. School Board of Seminole County</u>, 599 So.2d 220 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). In <u>Werthman</u>, the appellant was

employed by the school board as a teacher. Werthman was suspended and ultimately terminated because of allegations of sexual misconduct involving a student. Werthman requested and received an administrative hearing provided under Chapter 120, Fla. Stat., in connection with the termination proceeding brought by the school board under §231.36(3)(e), Fla. Stat. The hearing officer found that the evidence failed to support the allegations and recommended Werthman's reinstatement with back pay. Ultimately, the school board adopted the hearing officer's recommendations and reinstated Werthman, but denied his request for attorney's fees and costs. On appeal, the fifth district court of appeal upheld the school board's decision.

In affirming the decision below, the fifth district addressed precisely the argument raised by Peña, stating:

"Section 448.08 provides for the payment of attorney's fees in an 'action' involving accrued, but unpaid wages. We decline to extend its reach to administrative proceedings such as those involved here."

599 So.2d at 221, citing <u>Chavez v. City of Tampa</u>, 560 So.2d 1214 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), <u>rev. denied</u> 576 So.2d 285 (Fla. 1990). The fifth district court correctly noted that the administrative appeal does not involve a "[proceeding} to recover 'unpaid wages' except in the most tangential sense." 599 So.2d at 221. Indeed, the real purpose of the administrative appeal is to determine the sufficiency of

the evidence in support of the administrative decision to take disciplinary action.

In rejecting Werthman's claim that he was entitled to an attorney's fee for successfully seeking reinstatement, the fifth district also considered §231.36(6)(a), Fla. Stat., the section authorizing reinstatement and back pay for an employee against whom the administrative charges cannot be sustained. Upon consideration of the statute, the court of appeal observed:

"If the legislature had intended for an award of attorney's fees as an additional remedy for wrongful termination, we believe that they would have so provided. As a result, we find that under this statute, reinstatement and back pay are the extent of Werthman's remedy."

599 So.2d at 222 n.1.

In the courts below, Peña argued that parties have been awarded attorney's fees under §448.08 in connection with administrative proceedings. The fifth district court of appeal, however, addressing Greene v. School Board of Hamilton County, 501 So.2d 50 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), Doyal v. School Board of Liberty County, 415 So.2d 791 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982) and Metropolitan Dade County v. Stein, 384 So.2d 167 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980), the case relied on by the third district in support of its decision below, points out that cases expressly considers whether an none of those administrative hearing is the equivalent of an "action" within the meaning of §448.08. Further, none of those cases considers an enactment such as §2-47, Code of

Metropolitan Dade County, which specifically provides that a person appearing before a hearing examiner does so "at his own expense".

Werthman and Davis, supra, cannot be meaningfully distinguished from the case at bar. Just as in Werthman, Peña was dismissed from public employment. He appealed that dismissal to an independent hearing officer, as did the appellant in Werthman. However, where §231.36(6)(a) is silent as to an award of attorney's fees, §2-47, Code of Metropolitan Dade County, specifically provides that any party appearing before an independent hearing examiner does so <u>"at his own expense"</u>. Clearly, under the ordinance, Peña is not entitled to attorney's fees and costs for the administrative hearing before the hearing examiner.

Section 448.08, Fla. Stat., Does Not в. Evidence a Clear Intent by the State Legislature to Supersede Other Enactments Which Deny Awards of Attorney's Fees in Administrative Proceedings or Make Such Awards Discretionary.

Section 2-47, Code of Metropolitan Dade County is an enactment by the board of county commissioners, the legislative body of Metropolitan Dade County.¹² To interpret §448.08, Fla. Stat., to supersede §2-47, Code of Metropolitan Dade County, in the absence of a clearly expressed intent by the state legislature to supersede all enactments denying or making discretionary attorney's fee awards in administrative proceedings is to violate the judicial maxim that enactments should be construed so as to give a field of operation to each.

It is a fundamental principle of statutory construction that all laws or other enactments are presumed to be consistent with each other. 49 <u>Fla. Jur</u>. 2d Statutes, §180. It is presumed that a statute is passed with knowledge of prior existing statutes and courts favor a construction that will give a field of operation to both

¹Article VIII, §6(f) of the Florida Constitution provides: "The Metropolitan Government of Dade County may exercise all the powers conferred now or hereafter by general law upon municipalities."

²Section 166.021(3), Fla. Stat., grants to municipalities the power to enact legislation concerning any subject matter upon which the state legislature may act.

rather than construe one enactment as being meaningless or repealed by implication. <u>Id</u>. It is further presumed that the legislature did not intend to accomplish so important a measure as the repeal of an enactment without expressing an intent to do so. <u>Id</u>. As a result, where possible, the courts have a duty to adopt that construction of a statutory provision which harmonizes and reconciles it with other statutory provisions and to find a reasonable field of operation that will preserve the force and effect of each. <u>Id</u>.

Construing §448.08, Fla. Stat., so as to give the term "action" its traditional and historical meaning preserves the specific language and clear legislative intent of §2-47, Code of Metropolitan Dade County, as well as the more general provisions of §448.08. Nothing in the language or legislative history of §448.08 suggests the primary legislative intent was to supersede or repeal enactments that deny awards of attorney fees or make such awards discretionary in administrative proceedings.

CONCLUSION

The third district court of appeal erred. The Respondent, Humberto Peña, is not entitled to an award of costs and attorney's fees in connection with his appearance before an independent hearing examiner and appeal to the county manager. Section 2-47, Code of Metropolitan Dade County, specifically disallows such an award. To the extent Peña seeks an award under §448.08, Fla. Stat., the administrative appeal provided at §2-47 is not an "action for unpaid wages" within the meaning of the statute. The decision below must be reversed and the decision of the trial court reinstated. Peña is not the "prevailing party in an action for unpaid wages" within the meaning of §448.08, Fla. Stat.