IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 85,023

METROPOLITAN DADE COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Florida,

Petitioner,

vs.

HUMBERTO PEÑA,

Respondent.

FILED SID.J. WHITE MAR 17 1995 (CLERK, SUPREME COURT By CREAT Deputy Clerk

ON PETITION TO REVIEW CERTIFIED CONFLICT FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, HUMBERTO PEÑA

Respectfully Submitted,

PHILLIP J. GOLDSTEIN, P.A. Attorneys for Respondent One Datran Center - Suite 1119 9100 South Dadeland Boulevard Miami, Florida 33156 Telephone: (305) 670-0633

BY: PHILLIP J. GOLDSTEIN Florida Bar No. 131580

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Third District Court of Appeal was correct in determining that attorney's fees under Florida Statute Section 448.08 are awardable to a successful employee/claimant in any proceeding to obtain unpaid back wages. The Court did not differentiate between Administrative Proceedings and Circuit Court proceedings, so that in each type of proceeding which would result in obtaining an employee's back wages, that employee would have the right, pursuant to Section 448.08, to request attorney's fees and costs, and a Court would have the right and power to assess attorney's fees and costs against the employer. The fact that the Statute speaks of an "action", is not determinative of the issue of whether or not attorney's fees would be awardable in an administrative proceeding, since the Statute did not specifically exempt Administrative Proceedings. Courts have consistently held that even though Administrative Proceedings are not judicial in the sense that they include all of the same matters as one would traditionally find in a courtroom, where the work performed in the Administrative Proceeding is just as necessary to obtain relief as a courtroom proceeding, statutes authorizing attorney's fees for litigation would be construed to apply in like manner to Administrative Proceedings. In this case, because PEÑA was required to exhaust his administrative remedies before proceeding further, PEÑA should be entitled to attorney's fees for exhausting his administrative remedies, especially in light of the fact that the employer, DADE COUNTY, does not contest entitlement to an award of attorney's fees and costs for a court action to enforce the Mandate of the Administrative Proceeding.

POINTS ON APPEAL

Ι

THERE IS NO CONFLICT BETWEEN THE DECISION SOUGHT TO BE REVIEWED AND THE DECISIONS OF THE 5TH AND 1ST DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL, <u>WERTHMAN v. SCHOOL BOARD OF SEMINOLE</u> <u>COUNTY</u>, 599 So.2d 220 (Fla., 5th DCA, 1992) AND <u>DAVIS</u> <u>v. SCHOOL BOARD OF GADSDEN COUNTY</u>, 646 So.2d 766 (Fla., 1st DCA, 1994).

- A. PEÑA'S redress is governed procedurally by a Collective Bargaining Agreement and Dade County Personnel Rules.
- **B.** Redress for <u>Werthman</u> and <u>Davis</u> was governed procedurally by two Florida State Statutes.

If this Court finds that there is a direct and express conflict between the decision sought to

be reviewed and Werthman and Davis, the issues on the merits may be stated as:

Π

A STATE STATUTE TAKES PRECEDENCE OVER A COUNTY ORDINANCE AND WHEN THE PROVISIONS OF EACH CANNOT CO-EXIST, THE COUNTY ORDI-NANCE MUST FALL

Ш

FLORIDA STATUTE SECTION 448.08 MAY APPLY TO ANY CLAIM FOR UNPAID WAGES WHICH INVOLVES AN EMPLOYEE ACTION AGAINST AN EMPLOYER

- A. The purpose of the Statute is to allow equanimity between employers and employees.
- B. <u>Werthman</u> is Distinguishable from PEÑA

FLORIDA STATUTE SECTION 448.08 APPLIES TO ADMINISTRATIVE ACTIONS

IV

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I

THERE IS NO CONFLICT BETWEEN THE DECISION SOUGHT TO BE REVIEWED AND THE DECISIONS OF THE 5TH AND 1ST DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL, <u>WERTHMAN v. SCHOOL BOARD OF SEMINOLE</u> <u>COUNTY</u>, 599 So.2d 220 (Fla., 5th DCA, 1992) AND <u>DAVIS</u> <u>v. SCHOOL BOARD OF GADSDEN COUNTY</u>, 646 So.2d 766 (Fla., 1st DCA, 1994).

On February 2, 1995, this Court postponed its decision on jurisdiction, and set the briefing schedule. This Court's jurisdiction rests solely on the Third District Court of Appeal's certification that its decision, based upon what it felt to be the controlling authority of <u>Metropolitan Dade County</u>, v. Stein, 384 So.2d 167 (Fla., 3rd DCA, 1980), was in direct conflict with <u>Werthman vs. School</u> Board of Seminole County, 599 So.2d 220 (Fla. 5th DCA, 1992), and <u>Davis vs. School Board of</u> <u>Gadsden County</u>, 646 So.2d 766 (Fla., 1st DCA, 1994). Petitioner filed its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction pursuant to Art. V, §3(b)(3), Fla. Const. (1980); Fla. R. App. P. 9.030 (a)(2)(A)(VI).

An in-depth review of all four decisions shows that there is no conflict between the decisions, therefore jurisdiction of this Court is not automatic under the above-cited Rule of Appellate Procedure. Under the constitutional prerequisite of express and direct conflict, one of two situations must clearly appear: (1) an announced rule of law which conflicts with other appellate or Supreme Court expressions of law; or (2) an established rule of law is applied to produce a different result in a case which involves the same controlling facts as the prior case. E.g., Nielson v. City of Sarasota, 117 So.2d 731, 732 (Fla., 1960); Ansin v. Thurston, 101 So.2d 808 (Fla., 1958). Essentially, jurisdiction exists only if the essential effect would be that the case sought to be reviewed overrules the case cited for conflict. Ansin, *supra*, at 811. The Third District's perception of a conflict between the case sought to be reviewed and Werthman and Davis is thus clearly misplaced.

A. PEÑA'S redress is governed procedurally by a Collective Bargaining Agreement and Dade County Personnel Rules.

PEÑA'S claim was made pursuant to a Collective Bargaining Agreement between PEÑA'S Union and DADE COUNTY, the Dade County Personnel Rules and a Dade County Ordinance, all of which provide that an employee who is given a disciplinary action, has the right to and, if that employee intends to contest the disciplinary action, must take an Administrative Appeal of the disciplinary action. Only the Ordinance says that an employee may have his or her own counsel at the employee's expense. The Personnel Rules and the Collective Bargaining Agreement are silent as to attorney involvement. In Stein, the same Personnel Rules and County Ordinance were in effect and applied to his claim.

DADE COUNTY takes the position that Florida Statute Section 448.08 is inapplicable in this case only as to the Administrative Action. Attorney's fees and costs in PEÑA were awarded by the Trial Court for enforcement of the results of the Administrative Action, the amount of both costs and attorney's fees having been agreed upon by both PEÑA and DADE COUNTY. No appeal or cross appeal was taken by DADE COUNTY of the Trial Court's Order Awarding Fees and Costs for the Circuit Court action. It is clear, therefore, that DADE COUNTY does not contest Section 448.08's applicability to PEÑA'S claim for attorney's fees and costs for his effort to collect his unpaid wages, except as to the Administrative proceedings.

B. Redress for <u>Werthman</u> and <u>Davis</u> was governed procedurally by two Florida State Statutes.

Werthman, and Davis, were both actions brought under Florida Statutes. Chapter 231, Florida Statutes, governs school personnel in the State of Florida and is pertinent to claims by employees of the various County School Boards. Administrative actions regarding school employees are also taken pursuant to and in conjunction with the Administrative Procedures Act, Florida Statute Sections 120 <u>et seq</u>. The Statutes under which the aggrieved school employees travel provide for reasonable attorney's fees and costs at the discretion of the School Board hearing the administrative appeal. Werthman, found that the School Board did not abuse its discretion in failing to award attorney's fees to Mr. Werthman. The Fifth District Court of Appeal found that the Board had the right, under the existing State Statutes, Chapters 120 and 231, to award or not to award fees, so that the denial of fees was within their discretion.

The <u>Werthman</u> opinion cites to <u>Krueger vs. School District of Hernando County</u>, 544 So.2d 331 (Fla., 5th DCA, 1989). In that case, The Fifth District Court of Appeal sent back to the School Board, Krueger's claim for attorney's fees, stating that the School Board should have had an evidentiary hearing on entitlement to attorney's fees, not that Krueger was entitled to fees. By citing to the <u>Krueger</u> case, the <u>Werthman</u> Court made clear that the issue was not whether or not attorney's fees were awardable for an administrative action, but that the School Board had the right to make the determination of awarding fees, which was not automatic.

Petitioner, in its Brief, cites to 49 Fla. Jur 2d Statutes § 180 for the proposition that Section 448.08 and Dade County Ordinance 2-47 should somehow be reconciled with each other so as to preserve the force and effect of each. The language of § 180, 49 Fla. Jur 2d, Statutes is as follows:

"Where two statutes are found to be in conflict, however, rules of statutory construction must be applied to reconcile the conflict, if possible. The courts presume that statutes are passed with knowledge of prior existing statutes, and will favor a construction that gives a field of operation to both rather than construe one statute as being meaningless or repealed by implication....Hence, where it is possible, it is the duty of the courts to adopt that construction of a statutory provision which harmonizes and reconciles it with other statutory provisions, and to find a reasonable field of operation that will preserve the force and effect of each."

This statement refers to Statutes, State law, and not County Ordinances. This section is not applicable to Petitioner's argument; however, it is applicable to Respondent's argument that applying either Florida Statute Section 120.57 or Florida Statute Section 448.08 would not defeat the intent of the legislature. Hence, where two Statutes, Sections 448.08 and 120.57, both apply and are not mutually exclusive, the Appellate Courts would not force the Trial Court or Administrative Tribunal to accept either one, but would allow the matter to proceed pursuant to one of the applicable Statutes. In both Werthman and Krueger, the Fifth District found that the School Board had the

right to proceed under Florida Statute Section 120.57 and did not have to proceed under Florida Statutes Section 448.08.

The <u>Werthman</u> Court was very well aware that other District Courts had allowed attorney's fees in administrative actions, when they stated, at page 221

"We note that other courts have utilized this Statute to award attorney's fees in connection with administrative proceedings.

* * * * * * *

Furthermore, none of these cases involves termination proceedings brought by a School Board under Chapter 231, which does not involve proceedings to recover 'unpaid wages' except in the most tangential sense."

The Fourth District Court of Appeals also considered the attorney's fee issue in a School Board administrative proceeding in <u>Sulcer v. McFatter</u>, 497 So.2d 1349 (Fla., 4th DCA, 1986). In that particular case, the School Board asserted that it did not have the power or authority to award attorney's fees and costs to an employee who was the prevailing party in an administrative proceeding. The Court stated, at page 1350: "We hold that the Board does have such discretion and reverse the Board's holding to the contrary." The Court did go on to explain that their holding should not be construed as "...mandating an award of fees. Rather, we are holding that the Board possesses the authority to award fees."

Clearly, the line of cases regarding School Board employees is not in conflict with the Third District's decision in <u>PEÑA v. METROPOLITAN DADE COUNTY</u> or <u>Stein</u>. All of the District Courts appear to hold that attorney's fees and costs are awardable to the prevailing party in an Administrative Proceeding; however, it is not a mandatory award and the Appellate Courts will not disturb the discretionary power of the various school boards to award attorney's fees and costs. The School Board may, under the Administrative Procedures Act, and the School Personnel Statutes, award attorney's fees and costs to a prevailing employee in an administrative action. This does not conflict at all with Florida Statute Section 448.08, in that this Statute simply says that the Court may award attorney's fees and costs in an action for unpaid wages. There is no "direct or

express" conflict between the <u>PEÑA</u> and <u>Stein</u> decisions and the decisions in <u>Werthman</u> and <u>Davis</u>. Accordingly, this Court should dismiss this action for a lack of jurisdiction.

II

A STATE STATUTE TAKES PRECEDENCE OVER A COUNTY ORDINANCE AND WHEN THE PROVISIONS OF EACH CANNOT CO-EXIST, THE COUNTY ORDI-NANCE MUST FALL

Dade County Code, Section 2-47, directly conflicts with Florida Statute Section 448.08, and it is, therefore, invalid, only as far as the conflict. In the Third District Court case of Scavella vs. Fernandez, 371 So.2d 535 (Fla., 3rd DCA, 1979), the Court had for determination the issue of Metropolitan Dade County Code, Section 2-2, as it conflicted with Florida Statute §768.28(6). Dade County had enacted in its Code, a provision that notice of a claim against the County must be given within sixty (60) days of the happening of the incident; otherwise, the claim is barred. Florida Statute § 768.28 provides that notice of a claim against governmental agencies, which includes Metropolitan Dade County, must be given within three (3) years of the date that the claim accrues; therefore, the notice provision of each directly conflicts with the other. The Third District stated, at page 536

"Under the Home Rule Amendment, Dade County may not enact an ordinance which is in 'conflict with this Constitution or any such applicable general law...' Art. VIII, § 6(2), Fla.Const. of 1968 (reenacting Art. VIII, § 11(5), Fla.Const. of 1885). The sole issue presented on this appeal by the plaintiff from the order of dismissal is thus whether Section 2-2 is in 'conflict' with Section 768.28(6). It is."

* * * * * *

"It seems obvious that, under this definition, the two provisions in question here *cannot* co-exist. One need only put them side by side in order to make this determination. The state statute gives 3 years to file a claim; the ordinance 60 days to file the same claim for the same thing against the same entity. The county thus purports to take away 2 years and 10 months of time which the state has granted. The conflict between the statute and the ordinance is no less than self-evident. Hence, the ordinance must fall."

County ordinance 2-47 is in direct conflict with State Statute Section 448.08. Pursuant to the County

Ordinance, if we accept the County's position, attorney's fees in connection with collecting back

-12-

pay or wages are not available against Dade County. State Statute, Section 448.08, however, provides that the court may award a reasonable attorney's fee in an action involving unpaid wages and does not differentiate between persons, corporations or governmental entities. Because of the conflict between the Ordinance and the Statute regarding attorney fees, the provision of the Ordinance which does not allow attorneys fees must fall. See also <u>Acme Specialty Corporation v. City of Miami</u>, 292 So.2d 379 (Fla., 3rd DCA, 1974).

ш

FLORIDA STATUTE SECTION 448.08 MAY APPLY TO ANY CLAIM FOR UNPAID WAGES WHICH INVOLVES AN EMPLOYEE ACTION AGAINST AN EMPLOYER

A. The purpose of the Statute is to allow equanimity between employers and employees.

In another District Court case cited in <u>Werthman</u>, <u>Doyal v. School Bd</u>, <u>of Liberty County</u>, 415 So.2d 791 (Fla., 1st DCA, 1982), Theresa Doyal went through an Administrative Action before the Public Employees Relation Commission, and she obtained a favorable order. The favorable order was not able to be implemented because of a power struggle between the School Board and the School Superintendent. Doyal was required to file suit against the School Board in order to force payment of her wages. Part of her claim was for attorney's fees. Doyal claimed these attorney's fees pursuant to Section 57.105, Florida Statutes (1979), Section 448.08, Florida Statutes (1978), and Section 120.69(7), Florida Statutes (1974). The only Statute in Doyal which is relevant to PEÑA'S claim is Section 448.08, Florida Statutes (1985), which is the Statute governing an award of attorney's fees for a claim for unpaid wages. The other cited Statutes in the <u>Doyal</u> case are in regard to filing a claim to enforce an agency action, Section 120.69(7), Florida Statutes (1974) and absence of a justiciable issue of law or fact, Section 57.105, Florida Statutes (1979). The 1st District, at page 793 stated:

"In enacting Section 448.08, the Legislature intended to avoid the inequity which would result if an employee were required to pay her own attorney's fees in actions for unpaid wages."

Although the unpaid salary and benefits only amounted to \$4,000.00, Doyal had incurred some \$6,000.00 in attorney's fees. The Court felt that Section 448.08 had been enacted to remedy the obvious inequity of having to spend more money to enforce payment of back pay than the amount of the back pay involved. The District Court of Appeal reversed the order of the trial court with regard to denying Doyal attorney's fees and ordered the court to determine a reasonable attorney's fee for Doyal.

The Statute authorizing the award of attorney's fees to a prevailing party in an action for unpaid wages applies to all types of actions for unpaid wages, and has been approved in several of the District Courts in Florida. In the case of <u>Tampa Bay Publications, Inc. v. Watkins</u>, 549 So.2d 745 (Fla., 2nd DCA, 1989), Watkins filed suit against Tampa Bay Publication for failure to pay commissions on her sale of advertising for the magazine. As part of her complaint, Watkins sought a reasonable attorney's fee under Section 448.08. The parties had settled their differences prior to the trial with regard to everything except the attorney's fee award. Although the parties agreed that Watkins was entitled to \$5,000.00 in unpaid wages, the trial court awarded \$9,375.00 as attorney's fees under Section 448.08, and Tampa Bay Publications appealed that order to the 2nd District. The Appellate Court, in affirming the lower court award, stated, at page 747:

> "Additionally, we note there are certain legislative policy considerations embodied in section 448.08. In actions for unpaid wages, the legislature has specifically provided a means to equalize the disparate positions of employees in attempting to collect for the fruits of their labors. As in personal injury lawsuits, plaintiffs in actions for unpaid wages often do not have the financial means to obtain counsel on an hourly basis. If plaintiff's counsel were only limited to a contingent recovery rather than a reasonable court-awarded fee under section 448.08, attorneys would be discouraged from assuming stewardship of cases to recover unpaid wages unless substantial amounts of money were involved. Therefore, section 448.08 acts as a method by which to equalize otherwise disparate financial abilities of employees to retain counsel. By enacting section 448.08, the legislature obviously intended to avoid the inequities which would result if an employee were required to pay one's own attorney's fees in actions for unpaid wages. Doyal v. School Bd. of Liberty County, 415 So. 2d 791, 793 (Fla., 1st DCA, 1982)."

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